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42 C.F.R. § 405.435

Failure to maintain opt-out.

(a) A physician or practitioner fails to maintain opt-out under this subpart if, during the opt-out period—
(1) He or she knowingly and willfully—
(i) Submits a claim for Medicare payment (except as provided in § 405.440); or

(ii) Receives Medicare payment directly or indirectly for Medicare-covered services furnished to a Medicare
beneficiary (except as provided in § 405.440).

(2) He or she fails to enter into private contracts with Medicare beneficiaries for the purpose of furnishing
items and services that would otherwise be covered by Medicare, or enters into contracts that fail to meet the
specifications of § 405.415; or

(3) He or she fails to comply with the provisions of § 405.440 regarding billing for emergency care services or
urgent care services; or

(4) He or she fails to retain a copy of each private contract that he or she has entered into for the duration of the
current 2-year period for which the contracts are applicable or fails to permit CMS to inspect them upon
request.
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